IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-2508

PETER R. GENOVESE, M.D.,

Petitioner,

-VS-

PROVIDENT LIFE AND ACCIDENT INSURANCE COMPANY,

| Respondent. | | |
|-------------|--|--|
| | | |

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

On Appeal from the Fourth District Court of Appeals

LIGGIO & BENRUBI, P.A.
1615 Forum Place, Ste. 3B
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
and
BURLINGTON & ROCKENBACH, P.A.
Courthouse Commons/Ste. 430
444 W. Railroad Ave.
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(561) 721-0400
(561) 721-0465 (fax)
Attorneys for Petitioner
bdr@FLAppellateLaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Dr. Genovese is an insured under a disability policy issued by Provident in 1989 (R45, ¶7). In November 1997, Dr. Genovese submitted a claim for total disability (R45, ¶7). Provident began paying the monthly benefits under the policy on March 4, 1998 (R45, ¶7). Beginning with its benefits check dated February 5, 1999, Provident began paying benefits to Dr. Genovese under a reservation of rights (R45, ¶7). In August 1999, Provident filed suit against Dr. Genovese asking a court to declare Dr. Genovese not disabled (R45, ¶7). At least initially, Provident continued to pay monthly benefits due under the policy (R45, ¶7). During the litigation, however, counsel for Provident informed counsel for Dr. Genovese that Provident would stop paying the claim entirely if Dr. Genovese continued to defend the lawsuit (R45, ¶7). Dr. Genovese continued to defend the claim and, as a result, Provident terminated further benefits (R45, ¶7). On February 7, 2002, the jury rendered a verdict in favor of Dr. Genovese finding him totally disabled and a judgment was rendered against Provident (R42-43).

After Provident paid the back-payments owed, Dr. Genovese filed a statutory bad faith lawsuit pursuant to §624.155, Fla. Stat., for its claims handling and litigation conduct. Dr. Genovese served discovery requesting that Provident produce all claims and litigation related documents from the underlying disability benefits claim (see, generally, the First Supplemental Request for Production, as described in Provident's

Response to the Second Supplemental Request for Production, R52). Provident objected (R51-56). Pursuant to Dr. Genovese's Motion to Compel Production of Documents, the trial court ordered Provident to produce its claims file regarding the underlying litigation, over Provident's work product and attorney-client privilege objections. Provident chose not to challenge such order and produced its claims file to Genovese (R64, lines 10-11).

Provident's claims file consisted mostly of Dr. Genovese's medical records and other documents submitted by Dr. Genovese in support of his claim for benefits. Although the claims file included some attorney-client communications between Provident and its in-house attorneys, it did not include a single document referencing communications between Provident and Shutts & Bowen, its outside counsel. Dr. Genovese served a Second Supplemental Request to Produce as part of his discovery into the bad faith conduct by Provident (R48-49). The Second Supplemental Request to Produce requested that Provident produce its "entire litigation file, cover to cover, by whatever name in whatever form, regarding Plaintiff's claim(s) for disability benefits (R48). The request also asked for all correspondence and communications between Shutts & Bowen (Provident's attorneys) and Provident regarding Plaintiff's disability claims generated up to and including February 7, 2002¹ (R48).

¹ The February 7, 2002 date represents when the underlying claim for contractual benefits was resolved by the jury's verdict.

In response, Provident objected at length, contending that the documents contained in its litigation file include privileged communications between Provident's employees and Provident's attorneys who were defending the disability claim (Appendix 5). The objection also included a statement by Provident which attempted to blame Dr. Genovese for Provident's decision to terminate benefits during the litigation. Specifically, Provident stated in its objection that "BUT FOR the erroneous summary judgment obtained by Dr. Genovese in the previous suit, the previous action would have been tried to a conclusion with Dr. Genovese being paid his disability benefit by Provident pending the jury verdict therein and final judgment (R52) (capitalization in the original).

In response to a Motion to Compel filed by Dr. Genovese, the court issued the order which is the subject of the Petition (R39-40). The order required "Provident to produce all materials contained in Provident's litigation file that were created up to and including the date of resolution of the underlying claim for disability benefits" (R40). The court specifically noted that Dr. Genovese was not seeking, nor was he entitled, to discover materials generated after the underlying disability claim was concluded, including any attorney-client communications regarding the defense of the instant bad faith claim (R40).

Provident Life sought certiorari review by the Fourth District Court of Appeal R1-34). The Fourth District denied the petition as to Provident's claim that some of

the documents were protected by a "core" work product privilege, noting that this Court made no such distinction in <u>Allstate Indemnity Co. v. Ruiz</u>, 899 So.2d 1121 (Fla. 2005) <u>See Provident Life & Acc. Ins. Co. v. Genovese</u>, 943 So. 2d 321, 322 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006). However, with regard to the documents which Provident claimed were protected by the attorney-client privilege, the Fourth District granted the petition and quashed the portion of the trial court's order requiring production of documents protected by the attorney-client privilege. <u>Id</u>. at 323. The court certified the following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

DOES THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT'S HOLDING IN ALLSTATE INDEMNITY CO. V. RUIZ, 899 So.2d 1121 (Fla.2005), RELATING TO DISCOVERY OF WORK PRODUCT IN FIRST-PARTY BAD FAITH ACTIONS BROUGHT PURSUANT TO SECTION 624.155, FLORIDA STATUTES, ALSO APPLY TO ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED COMMUNICATIONS IN THE SAME CIRCUMSTANCES?

Dr. Genovese has sought review of the case and an answer to the certified question from this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The certified question should be answered in the affirmative. In <u>Ruiz</u>, this Court recognized that §624.155, Fla. Stat., created a fiduciary relationship between the insurer and the insured in a first party claim. The historical context of <u>Ruiz</u> shows that the issue resolved by this Court in that case concerned both attorney work product and attorney-client privilege claims. In addition, the prior decision of this Court in <u>Kujawa II</u> and the decision of the Third District in <u>Taylor</u>, both of which figured prominently in this Court's analysis in <u>Ruiz</u>, related to both privileges. As a result, the Fourth District incorrectly limited this Court's decision in <u>Ruiz</u> to claims of work product privilege.

The certified question should be answered in the affirmative and this matter remanded to the Fourth District.

ARGUMENT

DOES THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT'S HOLDING IN ALLSTATE INDEMNITY CO. V. RUIZ, 899 So.2d 1121 (Fla.2005), RELATING TO DISCOVERY OF WORK PRODUCT IN FIRST-PARTY BAD FAITH ACTIONS BROUGHT PURSUANT TO SECTION 624.155, FLORIDA STATUTES, ALSO APPLY TO ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED COMMUNICATIONS IN THE SAME CIRCUMSTANCES?

Standard of Review

The certified question presents a pure legal issue. Therefore, our review is <u>de</u> novo. Kephart v. Hadi, 932 So.2d 1086, 1089 (Fla. 2006); <u>Insko v. State</u>, 969 So.2d 992, 997 (Fla. 2007).

Argument

The Fourth District distinguished this Court's decision in <u>Ruiz</u> on the basis that it did not apply to attorney-client privileged materials, only work product privileged materials. The decision in <u>Ruiz</u>, however, is not limited to one type of privilege, and clearly holds that the insured in a first party bad faith claim is entitled to discovery of all materials from the claim and litigation file. Based upon the broad holding of <u>Ruiz</u>, and considering the historical backdrop to the decision in <u>Ruiz</u>, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative.

Ruiz Receded from Kujawa and Established New Guidelines for Discovery in First Party Bad Faith

In <u>Ruiz</u>, this Court dispensed with the distinction between discovery in first and third party bad faith actions that it made years earlier in <u>Kujawa v. Manhattan</u>

<u>National Life Insurance Co.</u>, 541 So.2d 1168 (Fla.1989)²:

Today, however, we reconsider the wisdom of our decision in Kujawa and a fresh look at such decision convinces us that any distinction between first – and third-party bad faith actions with regard to discovery purposes is unjustified and without support under section 624.155 and creates an overly formalistic distinction between substantively identical claims. As we have previously acknowledged in Laforet [658 So.2d 55 (Fla. 1995)] and other decisions, section 624.155 very clearly provides first-party claimants, upon compliance with statutory requirements, the identical opportunity to pursue bad faith claims against insurers as has been the situation in connection with third-party claims for decades at common law. The Legislature has clearly chosen to impose on insurance companies a duty to use good faith and fair dealing in processing and litigating the claims of their own insureds as insurers have had in dealing with third-party claims. Thus, there is no basis to apply different discovery rules to the substantively identical causes of action. See Fidelity and Cas. Ins. Co. v Taylor, 525 So. 2d 908, 909 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (stating that in both first- and third party bad faith actions, "the pertinent issue is the manner in which the company has handled the suit including its consideration of the advice of counsel so as to discharge its mandated duty of good faith"), disapproved by Kujawa, 541 So.2d 1168 (Fla.1989). We conclude the claims of protection at issue in this case may

² Because the analysis of this issue requires the discussion of this Court's and the

Fourth District's respective <u>Kujawa</u> opinions, the Fourth District's opinion will be referred to as <u>Kujawa I</u> and this Court's opinion will be referred to as <u>Kujawa II</u>.

only be applied consistently with the rationale we have established in identical situations in the third-party context... We conclude that it is necessary to recede from our decision in <u>Kujawa</u> because it has unnecessarily produced the application of artificial and disparate discovery rules to first and third party bad faith action.

Instead, the court held that the discovery allowed in both a third and first party bad faith action were the same (Ruiz, 899 So.2d at 1129-30):

[W]e hold that in connection with evaluating the obligation to process claims in good faith under section 624.155, all materials, including documents, memoranda, and letters, contained in the underlying claim and **related litigation file material** that was created up to and including the date of resolution of the underlying disputed matter and pertain in any way to coverage, benefits, liability, or damages, should also be produced in a first-party bad faith action. (Emphasis added).

This Court has thus held that the nature of the cause of action mandates that the insurer's entire claims and related litigation files are discoverable in a bad faith action. The use of broad language in Ruiz to clarify that "all materials" must be produced and specifically included litigation files is unmistakable. The phrase "all materials" necessarily includes materials between Provident and its counsel regarding the underlying claim for insurance benefits.

Some District Courts have decided that this Court's decision in <u>Ruiz</u> applies only to compel production of documents claimed to be protected by the attorney work product privilege, not to attorney-client privileged materials. <u>See, Liberty Mut. Fire</u>

Ins. Co. v. Bennett, 939 So.2d 1113, 1114 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), and XL Specialty Ins. Co. v. Aircraft Holdings, LLC, 929 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006). An analysis of the historical context of Ruiz, however, shows that there is no distinction between work product and attorney-client privileged materials, and that both must be produced in a first part bad faith claim brought pursuant to §624.144, Fla. Stat.

The Change in Analysis of Taylor and Kujawa I

The analysis of <u>Ruiz</u> turns on this Court's handling of <u>Taylor</u> and <u>Manhattan</u> Nat. Life Ins. Co. v. Kujawa, 522 So.2d 1078 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) (Kujawa I). This Court had jurisdiction of Kujawa I because of the conflict between it and Taylor. Both Kujawa I and Taylor involved discovery orders compelling the insurer in a first party bad faith case to produce its litigation file over objections based on both attorney-client and attorney work product privileges. When this Court first addressed the conflict in Kujawa II, the Court disapproved Taylor and approved Kujawa I. In a short opinion, this Court concluded that the relationship between the insurer and the insured claiming first party benefits was adversarial and that, therefore, an absolute privilege of non-disclosure applied to attorney-client materials held by the insurer. The Court also noted that only a qualified immunity protected attorney work product materials, and that production of those materials could be compelled upon the requisite showing pursuant to Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.280(b)(2). Importantly, in a dissenting opinion, Justice Shaw wrote that he believed the enactment of §624.155, Fla. Stat.

establishes a fiduciary relationship between the insurer and the insured in a first party claim, "thus making the claim processing file discoverable under the bad faith count." Id.

Approximately 16 years later, this Court was asked to review the discovery rules established by the Kujawa II decision in Ruiz. This Court concluded that the distinction between first part and third party claims for purposes of discovery was untenable, and held that the same discovery is available in a first party claim as is available in a third party claim. In coming to its conclusion, this Court wrote that "we now agree with the analytical approach of the court in Fidelity and Casualty Ins. Co. of New York v. Taylor, 525 So.2d 908 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987)," which was previously disapproved in Kujawa II.

In <u>Taylor</u>, the Third District permitted the discovery of the entire first party claim file over attorney-client and attorney work product privilege objections and wrote (<u>Taylor</u>, 525 So.2d at 909 -10) (emphasis added):

In a "first-party" action against an insurance carrier founded upon section 624.155(1)(b), which affirmatively creates a company duty to its insured to act in good faith in its dealings under the policy, liability is based upon the carrier's conduct in processing and paying a given claim. [Citations omitted.] Thus, the action is totally unlike an ordinary "insured vs. insurer" action brought only under the policy, in which the carrier's claim file is deemed not producible essentially because its contents are not relevant to the only issues involved, those of coverage and damages, and in which there is therefore no basis for overcoming the

work product and attorney-client privileges which would ordinarily attach to these materials. [Citations omitted.]

In contrast, a case like this one is totally in-distinguishable from the familiar "bad faith" failure to settle or defend a third-party's action against a liability carrier's insureds. [citations omitted] In those cases, like this one, the pertinent issue is the manner in which the company has handled the suit including its consideration of the advice of counsel so as to discharge its mandated duty of good faith. Virtually the only source of information on these questions is the claim file itself. Accordingly, applying the rules that the work product privilege is overcome by a showing that the materials give clues to relevant facts which may not otherwise be secured, and that the attorney-client privilege is likewise commonly rendered inapplicable, it has been consistently held in our state that a claim file is subject to production in such an action. [Citations and footnotes omitted.]

In our view, because the pertinent issues are the same, there is no basis for distinguishing between types of "bad faith" insurance cases with respect to the present question. We therefore hold, as does the substantial weight of authority elsewhere on the question, that the claim file is and was properly held producible in this first-party case. (Emphasis added.)

This Court then receded from <u>Kujawa II</u>, writing "we believe that a portion of our decision in [<u>Kujawa II</u>] is both legally and practically untenable" and "to the extent necessary, recede from our decision in [<u>Kujawa II</u>] as explained herein." <u>Ruiz</u>, 899 So. 2d at 1131. The "explanation within" regarding <u>Kujawa II</u> was because it "produced the application of artificial and disparate discovery rules to first and third-party bad faith actions." <u>Id</u>. at 1129.

Although the decision in <u>Ruiz</u> did not explicitly involve a claim of attorney-client privilege, the decision in <u>Taylor</u>, upon which <u>Ruiz</u> relies, did involve a claim of attorney-client privilege. The Third District held that neither the attorney-client privilege, nor the attorney work product privilege, apply to any document related to first party bad faith litigation. That fact, coupled with the holding in <u>Ruiz</u> that first and third party discovery must be the same because the fiduciary duty owed to the insured is the same in both instances leads to the conclusion that the litigation file materials are not protected by the attorney-client privilege in either first or third party cases.

Because this Court held that discovery in first party bad faith claims should be the same as discovery in third party bad faith claims, the scope of discovery allowed in this case can only be discernible by looking at the scope of discovery allowed in third party bad faith claims. Similarly, in Allstate Indemnity Company v. Oser, 893 So.2d 675 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005), the court upheld the trial court's discovery order by noting that in a third party bad-faith action, "no attorney-client or work-product privilege ordinarily extends to protect documents that were created before the date of the judgment that gave rise to such claim." Oser, 893 So.2d at 677. In United Services Automobile Association v. Jennings, 731 So.2d 1258 (Fla. 1999), this Court held that the scope of discovery after a Cunningham stipulation was the same as the

discovery available after the entry of an excess judgment.³ With regard to the specific scope, the Court wrote (<u>Jennings</u>, 731 So. 2d at 1260):

Finally, we note that the permitted discovery of the insurer's claim file is limited to materials related to the insurer's handling of the claim through the date of the stipulation and agreement that concluded the underlying negligence claim and is the basis of the stipulated judgment. The required discovery does not include any attorney-client communication or work-product material which pertains to the insurer's defense of itself in the badfaith action and which was generated subsequent to the stipulation and agreement, even though such privileged materials are physically included in what is referred to as the claims file.

Although the Court noted the existence of privileges from disclosure of the documents related to the "bad faith" defense after the entry of the stipulation, there was no such privilege noted for documents created before the stipulation. The court stated that all documents created prior to the entry of the stipulation were discoverable.

This same rule for discovery is set forth in numerous Florida decisions. <u>Dunn v. National Security Fire and Casualty Co.</u>, 631 So.2d 1103, 1109 (Fla.5th DCA 1993) (In bad faith suits against insurance companies for failure to settle within the policy

14

³ A "<u>Cunningham</u>" stipulation refers to an agreement of the parties to treat an agreed amount as the functional equivalent of a final judgment, without the time and expense necessary to obtain a final judgment. <u>Cunningham v. Standard Guaranty Ins. Co.</u>, 630 So.2d 179 (Fla.1994).

limits, all materials in the insurance company's claim file up to the date the judgment in the underlying suit are obtainable, and should be produced when sought by discovery); Continental Casualty Co. v. Aqua Jet Filter Systems, Inc., 620 So.2d 1141, 1142 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) (the plaintiff in a third party bad faith action against an insurance company for failure to settle the claim for policy limits is entitled to the entire litigation file of the insured's counsel from the inception of the lawsuit until the date that the judgment was entered in the underlying action). See also, Stone v. Travelers Insurance Company, 326 So.2d 241 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

The First District concluded, however, that the decision in <u>Ruiz</u> does not mean that an insurer no longer has an attorney-client privilege for claim documents. In <u>XL</u> <u>Specialty Insurance Company v. Aircraft Holdings, LLC.</u>, 929 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006), the court held that <u>Ruiz</u> is limited to work-product privilege materials only, and that the portion of <u>Kujawa</u> which related to the attorney-client privilege was not changed by <u>Ruiz</u>. It quashed an order which compelled an insurer to produce attorney-client privileged documents⁴.

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