IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC06-2508**

DCA Case No. 4D06-421

---

**PETER GENOVESE,**

**Petitioner,**

**v.**

**PROVIDENT LIFE AND ACCIDENT INSURANCE COMPANY,**

**Respondent.**

---

On Petition for Review of a Decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal

---

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF**

---

**SHUTTS & BOWEN LLP**

John E. Meagher

Florida Bar No. 511099

*jmeagher@shutts.com*

Jeffrey M. Landau

Florida Bar Number 863777

*jlandau@shutts.com*

Stephen T. Maher

Florida Bar Number 200859

*smaher@shutts.com*

201 South Biscayne Boulevard

Suite 1500, Miami Center

Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone: 305-358-6300

Facsimile: 305-381-9982

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

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This case is before the Court on a question certified to be of great public importance:

Does the Florida Supreme Court's holding in *Allstate Indemnity Co. v. Ruiz*, 899 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 2005), relating to discovery of work product in first-party bad faith actions brought pursuant to section 624.155, Florida Statutes, also apply to attorney-client privileged communications in the same circumstances?

The Fourth District Court of Appeal below, like the First District before it in *XL Specialty Insurance Co. v. Aircraft Holdings, LLC*, 929 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006), a court that had earlier certified the same question to this Court, found that *Ruiz* had not decided the question of the continued viability of attorney-client privilege from the underlying case in first party bad faith cases, and both courts found such communications were still fully protected under Florida law.

*Ruiz* involved only the application of the work product doctrine in a first party bad faith action. That is clear from the opinion and from what was before the Court for decision in that case. Even Petitioner agrees that this Court in *Ruiz* “recognized that it was not presented the issue of attorney-client privilege in a first party bad faith case and, therefore, could not decide that issue.” Brief at p. 16.

All the District Courts of Appeal of Florida that have considered the

question since *Ruiz* have found that *Ruiz* did not decide the question of attorney-client privilege. They have also determined that the attorney-client privilege in first-party bad faith cases should continue to be protected. See *XL Specialty, Genovese II, Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Bennett*, 939 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), *Progressive Express Ins. Co. v. Scoma*, 975 So. 2d 461 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007), and *West Bend Mutual Insurance Company v. Higgins*, No. 5D08-2987, 2009 WL 790145 (Fla. 5th DCA Mar. 27, 2009). Thus, there is no reasoned basis to conclude that *Ruiz* is binding on the question at the heart of this dispute, whether an insured may obtain, during a first party bad faith case, the attorney-client communications between an insurer and its counsel that occurred during the preceding underlying breach of contract litigation.

*Ruiz* receded from a portion of this Court's opinion in *Kujawa v. Manhattan National Life Insurance Co.*, 541 So. 2d 1168 (Fla. 1989). However, the District Courts of Appeal that have analyzed *Ruiz* have all concluded that the part of *Kujawa* that dealt with the attorney-client privilege remains and continues to protect the attorney-client privilege in the first party context.

That decision makes sense, because the reasoning that this Court used to abrogate the work product privilege in *Ruiz*, when applied to attorney-client privilege, does not abrogate the attorney-client privilege. In *Ruiz*, this Court's decision to abolish work product privilege in first party bad faith cases was clearly

based on the *need* for such materials. This rationale, while compelling in the work product context, cannot extend to attorney-client privileged communications. Need is never a permissible basis to allow access to attorney-client privileged communications.

In addition, work product privilege is protected by court rule, not statute, and attorney-client privilege, unlike work product privilege, is enshrined in Florida's Evidence Code, section 90.502 of the *Florida Statutes*. Section 624.155 of the *Florida Statutes*, the statutory bad faith section, does not even mention, let alone repeal, the statutory protection of attorney-client privilege contained in section 90.502 of the *Florida Statutes*. While the Court has the power to affect work product privilege, it may not abrogate the statutory protection of the attorney-client privilege. Accordingly, this Court's entire rationale for abrogating the work product privilege in *Ruiz* fails to reach the attorney-client privilege.

Important policy reasons exist to preserve attorney-client privilege that do not exist in the case of the work product privilege. The attorney client privilege is an interest traditionally deemed worthy of maximum legal protection. Few evidentiary privileges are as jealously guarded as the attorney-client privilege. Notwithstanding the probative evidence that could always be obtained through its breach, strong policy reasons exist to protect against the breach of the privilege.

The purpose of the attorney-client privilege is to encourage full and frank communication between attorneys and their clients and thereby promote broader public interests in the observance of law and administration of justice. Without the assurance of confidential communication, it would be impossible for an insurer's counsel to provide the company with candid legal advice in a dispute. The importance of frank discussions to fair decisions cannot be overstated.

When Petitioner seeks to abrogate the attorney-client privilege, he is not speaking for the public, who seeks fair (not one-sided) claims handling, or for policy holders, who want the company to pay only meritorious claims, or even for claimants as a whole, who want their claims fully evaluated. The insurer's duty runs to all its policy holders, not just those making claims. Policy holders count on the insurance company to weed out and deny meritless claims made by other policyholders, and the company needs access to confidential legal advice during that process and during first party litigation over claims. Where a close case cannot be fully examined because confidential legal advice is not available, all the policyholders, as well as the public interest, are the losers, even though certain members of the plaintiff's bar may not see it that way.

## ARGUMENT

**I. DOES THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT'S HOLDING IN *ALLSTATE INDEMNITY CO. V. RUIZ*, 899 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 2005), RELATING TO DISCOVERY OF WORK PRODUCT IN FIRST PARTY BAD FAITH ACTIONS BROUGHT PURSUANT TO SECTION 624.155 OF THE FLORIDA STATUTES, ALSO APPLY TO ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED COMMUNICATIONS IN THE SAME CIRCUMSTANCES?**

**A. THE ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE WAS NOT BEFORE THE COURT IN *RUIZ*, WAS NOT ADDRESSED THERE, WAS NOT ABROGATED THERE, AND THIS COURT SHOULD NOT ABROGATE IT HERE**

In the first sentence in *Allstate Indemnity Co. v. Ruiz*, 899 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 2005), this Court stated:

We have for review *Allstate Indemnity Co. v. Ruiz*, 780 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), which expressly and directly conflicts with a number of cases from other district courts **with regard to issues concerning application of work product privilege to shield documents from discovery in the insurance bad faith context.**

899 So. 2d at 1122 (emphasis added). This Court also stated:

We granted Allstate's petition **to review the district court's determination which analyzed and addressed the asserted work product privilege.** *Allstate Indemnity Co. v. Ruiz*, 796 So. 2d 535 (Fla. 2001) (table).

899 So. 2d at 1124 (emphasis added).

Thus, *Ruiz* involved only the application of the work product doctrine in a first party bad faith action.<sup>4</sup> Even Petitioner agrees that this Court in *Ruiz* “recognized that it was not presented the issue of attorney-client privilege in a first party bad faith case and, therefore, could not decide that issue.” Brief at p. 16.<sup>5</sup> Because of the nature of the disputed documents in *Ruiz*, the attorney-client privilege was not an issue in *Ruiz*. The attorney-client privilege was also not raised by Allstate nor addressed by this Court.<sup>6</sup> The *Ruiz* trial court ordered the disputed

---

<sup>4</sup> The majority opinion in *Ruiz* contains the phrase “work product” approximately thirteen (13) times. It contains the phrase “claim file” or “claim file type materials” and “prepared in anticipation of litigation,” all phrases associated **exclusively** with “work product” protection approximately seventeen (17) times. **It does not contain the phrase “attorney-client privilege.”**

<sup>5</sup> The record confirms this. *Ruiz*’s description of the documents at issue, and the manner in which that case had been handled, are crucial to understanding what this Court did and did not address and decide in *Ruiz*. This Court specifically observed **none of the disputed documents were “attorney-client communications which could be concealed from disclosure.”** 899 So. 2d at 1123 (emphasis added).

<sup>6</sup> The briefs submitted to the Florida Supreme Court in *Ruiz*, together with the oral argument in that case, confirm that the issue of attorney-client privilege was neither argued nor addressed. See Appendix to Petition for Writ of Certiorari (R. 35) at Tab 7 (Unofficial transcript of oral argument, not exact, but submitted to show flavor of the argument); (R.35 at Tab 8) (Petitioner’s initial brief); (R.35 at Tab 9) (Respondent’s brief); (R.35 at Tab 10) (Petitioner’s Reply Brief); and (R.35 at Tab 11) (Amicus Brief in support of Respondent).

documents<sup>7</sup> to be produced after an *in camera* inspection led it to conclude that **none of the documents requested constituted attorney-client communications.**

Thus, in *Ruiz*, the effect of allegations of first party bad faith on the attorney-client privilege was not before this Court in that case and was not decided in that case. The First District Court of Appeal in *XL Specialty*, concurred with this analysis stating: “the Court in *Ruiz* could not have reached the issue of attorney-client privilege because it was totally absent in the appellate process and accordingly was not dispositive of the case.” 929 So. 2d at 583. Accordingly, the *XL Specialty* court concluded, as this Court should, that this Court only intended to decide the viability of the work product privilege in the first party bad faith context in *Ruiz*:

Therefore, the holding in *Ruiz* applies only to the work-product privilege. As stated by Justice Wells, in his separate opinion in *Ruiz*, “the only issue being decided in this case is the discovery of work product in the claims file pertaining to the underlying insurance claim.” 899 So. 2d at 1132 (Wells, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). The majority does not take issue with his characterization of the issue in the case, understandably because it

---

<sup>7</sup> The disputed documents in *Ruiz* consisted of “Allstate Indemnity’s claim and investigative file and materials, internal manuals, and [Allstate insurance agent] Paul Cobb’s file in connection with the pending alleged ‘bad faith’ action.” *Id.* at 1123. The Fourth DCA had affirmed the trial court as to certain of the documents but reversed as to others, finding them to be “work product” and thus protected from discovery absent the proper showing pursuant to rule 1.280(b) of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, which had not been made. None of the documents were claimed to be, or found to be, attorney-client communications.

describes it in the same manner. “[O]ur determination essentially eliminates the basis of the discovery dispute and the issue giving rise to the conflict between the decision below and the multiple decisions of other district courts of appeal *pertaining to when work product privilege attaches* to shield documents from production in this context.” *Id.* at 1130 (emphasis added).

929 So. 2d at 583.

The only possible reference to attorney-client privilege in *Ruiz* was a diminutive slice of unclear dicta. The dicta in question was most recently the focus of examination by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in *Higgins*. *Higgins* found that *Ruiz* did not address the question of attorney-client privilege, and that attorney-client privilege should remain untouched in first party bad faith cases.<sup>8</sup> In *Higgins*, the Fifth District Court of Appeal noted:

There is one phrase, on page 1129 of the *Ruiz* opinion:

---

<sup>8</sup> The Court in *Higgins* noted that:

Although the Florida Supreme Court has concluded that section 624.155 applies to first-party insurance disputes as well as third party claims, and that the immunity from disclosure of the claim file based on work product ought not to apply, **nothing in *Ruiz* suggests that the attorney-client privilege** available to any contracting party, including insurers, **somehow evaporates uniquely for insureds upon the filing of a bad-faith claim. We see nothing in *Ruiz* to suggest that a first-party insurer against whom a bad faith claim has been made is subject to the exposure of all its communications with its own counsel.**

2009 WL 790145, at \*1 (emphasis added).

In contrast, a case like this one is totally indistinguishable from the familiar “bad faith” failure to settle or defend a third party’s action against a liability carrier’s insureds. In those cases, like this one, the pertinent issue is the manner in which the company has handled the suit *including its consideration of the advice of counsel* so as to discharge its mandated duty of faith. Virtually the only source of information on these questions is the claim file itself.

(Emphasis supplied [by Court].) **It is not clear what this means; it may be a reference to a defense of advice of counsel. This one cryptic phrase in a ten-page opinion, otherwise expressly pertaining to work product, is no basis to conclude that the attorney-client privilege no longer exists in first-party insurance cases.** See *Ruiz*, 899 So.2d at 1132 (Wells, J., dissenting).

*West Bend Mutual Insurance Company v. Higgins*, No. 5D08-2987, 2009 WL 790145, at \*1, n. 1 (Fla. 5th DCA Mar. 27, 2009) (emphasis added, except the italicized emphasis which was supplied by the court).

All the District Courts of Appeal that have considered the question since *Ruiz* have found that *Ruiz* did not decide the question of attorney-client privilege, and have also all determined that a proper ruling on attorney-client privilege in first party bad faith cases, is that it should continue to be protected. *XL Specialty*, 929 So. 2d at 583; *Genovese II*; *Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Bennett*, 939 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006); *Progressive Express Ins. Co. v. Scoma*, 975 So. 2d 461 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007); and *Higgins*, 2009 WL 790145, at \*1. There is no reasoned basis to conclude that *Ruiz* is binding on the question at the heart of this dispute, whether an insured may obtain, during a first party bad faith case, the attorney-client

communications between an insurer and its litigation counsel during the preceding underlying breach of contract litigation. *Higgins*, the most recent and best reasoned District Court of Appeal decision on the question, makes a compelling case against permitting such discovery. Petitioner largely ignores these important recent cases in his Initial Brief.

Although not mentioned in the Petitioner's Initial Brief, the "best case" for the argument that *Ruiz* decided any question of attorney-client privilege is stated in *Adega v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Ins. Co.*, No. 07-20696-CIV, 2008 WL 1009719 (S.D. Fla. Apr. 9, 2008). In *Adega*, Magistrate Judge Brown explained that he was "begrudgingly"<sup>9</sup> following an interpretation of *Ruiz* made by Judge

---

<sup>9</sup> Judge Brown explained his reservations with his decision in some detail:

The reason for the use of the word "begrudgingly" is because of the analysis that appears in the *Ruiz* decision and those cases following it, addressing whether it includes attorney-client protected materials in its decision allowing discovery. While the Florida courts have discussed, at length, the discovery that should be permitted in a bad faith case, **there has been precious little analysis of the sanctity of the attorney-client privilege - a cornerstone of the entire judicial/legal system in this country.** Even in *XL Specialty*, which ruled that *Ruiz* did not intend that discovery include attorney-client protected documents, **there is precious little discussion about that privilege itself**, and even less in [*Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Company v. Bennett* [939 So.2d 1113, 1114 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006)].

*Adega v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Ins. Co.*, No. 07-20696-CIV, 2008 WL 1009719, at \*2 (S.D. Fla. Apr. 9, 2008) (emphasis added). While this observation was arguably true of earlier District Court of Appeal decisions on the question, it is  
(cont.)

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